



Nurse-Midwifery & Dual Women's Health/ Nurse-Midwifery Student Guide

Excellence in Action

# **Rutgers School of Nursing**

# Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery Student Guide

The Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery Student Guide provides foundational information about the programs and nurse-midwifery-specific program requirements and references Rutgers School of Nursing Division of Advanced Nursing Practice Student Handbook which includes resources, policies, and procedures. Students are responsible for the information shared within the Handbook and this Student Guide.

Please read both carefully to ensure a clear understanding of their contents. If you have any questions about either of these documents or program requirements and expectations, please discuss them with the Program Director, Dr. Julie Blumenfeld.

# Student Acknowledgement Student Guide

Please email the signed attestation below to the Program Director, Dr. Julie Blumenfeld, julie.blumenfeld@rutgers.edu.

I have received the Rutgers School of Nursing Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery Student Guide. I have read the guide in its entirety, understand its contents, and have been provided with an opportunity to ask questions and have those questions answered.

tudent Name
tudent Signature
Pate

# Table of Contents

VV	eicome	1
	art 1: Introduction to the Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery	2
•	Mission	
	Philosophy	
	Objectives	
	Rutgers School of Nursing Policies and Procedures	
	Faculty-Student Communication	
	Balancing Work, Life, School, and Other Commitments	
	Student Academic and Personal Challenges	
	Rutgers School of Nursing Student Resources	
	Student Engagement & Wellbeing	
	Student Wellness Program	
	Academic Support	
PC	art 2: Academics	5
	Overview of Programs	5
	ACNM Core Competencies	5
	Academic Advisement	
	Evaluation, Grading, and Academic Progression	5
	Objective Structured Clinical Exams (OSCEs)	6
	Nurse-Midwifery Comprehensive Examination	
	Course and Program Evaluation	
PC	art 3: Learning in the Clinical Setting	
	Requirements for Certification and Observation	
	Clinical Clearance	7
	Clinical Site/Preceptor Selection and Placement	7
	Clinical Attendance and Hours	
	Creating a Clinical Schedule Excused and Unanticipated Absences	
	Clinical Preparedness	8
	Clinical Evaluation	<u>c</u>
	Minimum Number of Patient Clinical Encounters	
	Clinical Safety	
	OSHA Compliance Patient Privacy	

Student Clinical Practice and Advanced Midwifery Skills	10
Fatigue and Sleep Deprivation	
Clinical Errors and Adverse Clinical Outcomes	10
Student Malpractice Insurance Coverage	10
Reporting Clinical Errors or Adverse Outcomes	
Clinical Documentation and Tracking	11
Documentation	
Exxat	11
Experience Log and Timesheets	11
Student and Clinical Site and Preceptor Evaluations	11
Acknowledgment of Clinical Sites and Preceptors	11
Part 3: Professional Issues	
Professional Issues Days	12
Participation in Professional Activities and Organizations	12
Student Leadership Volunteer Opportunities	12
Part 4: Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery P	rogram Faculty 13

# Welcome

Welcome to the Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery programs at Rutgers School of Nursing! Our faculty look forward to supporting your academic journey as you acquire the knowledge, skill, and insight needed to become a confident, capable, and safe entry-level provider.

The Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery programs offer flexible and engaging learning environments. Our primarily synchronous, remote courses are balanced with intentional on-campus meetings, skills labs, and clinical simulations led by innovative faculty in our state-of-the-art midwifery simulation center. Clinical learning occurs at diverse, well-established, faculty-selected clinical sites across New Jersey and is designed to meet the learning needs of each student.

Our programs prepare students for a comprehensive career. Currently supported by generous funding from the New Jersey Department of Health, the New Jersey Midwifery Education Project prepares diverse clinicians to decrease health inequities and improve maternal health outcomes throughout the state. An added advantage of studying in New Jersey is the opportunity to be educated and trained in a state that supports access to comprehensive sexual and reproductive health care.

This Guide contains valuable information regarding these programs as well as School of Nursing policies. Please take time to review its contents, as I am confident you will find it useful. Again, welcome to the Rutgers School of Nursing Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health Nurse-Midwifery programs!

Julie Blumenfeld, DNP, CNM, FACNM (she/her)

Program Director, Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery

Clinical Assistant Professor

) Blumenful

**Rutgers School of Nursing** 

# Part 1: Introduction to the Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery Programs

The Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery programs are accredited by the Accreditation Commission for Midwifery Education (ACME). In addition to embracing the Rutgers School of Nursing's mission, vision, and philosophy, the Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery programs have their own program-specific mission, philosophy, and objectives, as outlined below.

#### Mission

The mission of the Nurse-Midwifery program at Rutgers School of Nursing is to educate students and advance the profession of midwifery through patient-centered, evidence-based practice, scholarship, service, and professional leadership and advocacy.

# Philosophy

The Nurse-Midwifery program at Rutgers School of Nursing stands on a strong foundation of excellence in education, scholarship, and clinical practice and the optimization of health and health equity. Our program and faculty affirm accessible, equitable, ethical, person-centered care that respects individuality, diversity, and physiologic processes. Our graduates are prepared to be independent providers of full- scope health care across the lifespan including pregnancy, childbirth, and the postpartum period; sexual, reproductive, and gynecologic health; primary care; and care for the healthy neonate. Our faculty cultivate student skills to contribute to midwifery leadership, scholarship, interprofessional collaboration, and growth of the profession for individuals, families, and communities in a diverse world. Each student brings their unique perspective to the program, enhancing the learning environment. Faculty serve as mentors and role models for students and promote the joy of learning, the value of community engagement, and the significance of professional leadership and advocacy. Based on this philosophy, the Nurse-Midwifery program at Rutgers School of Nursing prepares graduates who embrace the midwifery model of care and become leaders in improving healthcare systems and individual health.

# Objectives

Graduates of the Nurse-Midwifery or Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery program at Rutgers School of Nursing, will be able to:

- Practice safe, independent, competent, and professional midwifery care as a beginning clinician in accordance with the <u>American College of Nurse-Midwives' Core</u> <u>Competencies for Basic Midwifery Practice</u> and <u>Standards for the Practice of Midwifery</u>.
- Uphold the values of the profession of midwifery including supporting inclusivity; caring
  for and eliminating obstacles faced by individuals in marginalized communities;
  establishing and applying evidence-based care; emphasizing health promotion and
  patient education; and limiting interventions in normal physiologic processes.
- 3. Provide care that is equitable, ethical, culturally humble, and person-centered.

- 4. Contribute to the future profession of midwifery through membership, participation, and leadership in professional organizations; service; and efforts to further professional organizational goals and priorities.
- 5. Collaborate with interprofessional healthcare teams, valuing all members and communicating respectfully, to deliver high quality care.
- 6. Pursue life-long learning and professional development as a nurse-midwife.

# Rutgers School of Nursing Policies and Procedures

Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery students are members of the Division of Advanced Nursing Practice and so adhere to policies and procedures outlined within the Division of Advanced Nursing Practice Student Handbook. This Handbook contains valuable information surrounding student expectations and policies that apply throughout each student's academic journey. It provides answers to commonly asked questions and serves as an excellent resource. Students should be familiar with Handbook and especially the following policies and topics:

- Rutgers School of Nursing Standards of Conduct
- Academic Integrity
- · Grades, Grading, and Academic Progression
- Services for Students with Disabilities
- Religious Accommodation
- Policy Prohibiting Discrimination and Harassment
- Anti-Racist and Anti-Bias Commitment
- Information Technology and Bring Your Own Device

### Faculty-Student Communication

Open dialogue between students and faculty is encouraged and contributes to the growth and development of the program and its students and faculty members. Email communication should only occur through student's and faculty's official Rutgers email account. While the School of Nursing policy is that faculty have 72 hours to respond to student emails, that response time is often quicker. Students should check their Rutgers email at least every other day to stay abreast of important updates, information, and potential schedule changes.

#### Balancing Work, Life, School, and Other Commitments

Rutgers School of Nursing students have made a commitment to prioritize their education and learning. Program success demands hard work, focus, and dedication. Attendance at all classes and clinical experiences is expected as per the <u>Classroom and Clinical Attendance Policy</u>. During the final year of study, students (full- and part-time) must be prepared to complete a minimum of 16-hours per week in the clinical setting while also preparing for the midwifery comprehensive examination. Because of this program's intensity and rigor, students are discouraged from working full-time, especially during the final semesters when course load and clinical hour requirements and demands are extremely high.

# Student Academic and Personal Challenges

Although not unique to Rutgers' Nurse-Midwifery/Dual Women's Health Nurse-Midwifery, academic, personal, and/or life challenges will inevitably arise during the program. Depending on the nature of the concern, the student should contact the individual below to assist with accessing resources and developing a plan to meet their needs.

Type of Concern	Person to Contact
Course-related	Course faculty
Clinical	Preceptor and clinical faculty
Personal	Program Director

If a student has a course-related concern, they should first seek to resolve the concern with the course faculty. If, after meeting with the faculty member, the problem cannot be resolved, the student should reach out to the Program Director. If the Program Director is not available or the issue still cannot be resolved, the student may contact the Assistant or Associate Divisional Dean. Students should not reach out to the Program Director or Divisional Dean without first attempting to resolve the concern with the faculty member.

#### Rutgers School of Nursing Student Resources

Rutgers School of Nursing has several student-focused support and resources as described below.

#### Student Engagement & Wellbeing

The Senior Student Program Coordinator is available to assist Division of Advanced Nursing Practice students with navigating School of Nursing processes such as registration and financial aid as well as student progression. The Coordinator may also be able to support students with school-related and personal matters. Please refer to the Handbook for more details.

#### Student Wellness Program

The <u>Student Wellness Program</u> is a free, confidential counseling service that helps students deal effectively with stressors and pressures related to school, as well as personal issues that may affect their well-being, home lives, or academic performance. Students may also benefit from Rutgers University wellness resources.

#### Academic Support

Housed within the School of Nursing, academic support resources are available through the Office of Academic Success.

#### **Disability Services**

The School of Nursing provides students with disability services, including confidential advising and accommodation services to allow students with physical, mental, and learning disabilities to complete their course of study at Rutgers School of Nursing. The school provides for confidential documentation and verification of student accommodations and communicates with faculty and staff regarding disabilities and accommodations.

# Part 2: Academics

# Overview of Programs

The Nurse-Midwifery BS to DNP program is 81 credits and requires a minimum of 810 clinical hours. The Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery BS to DNP program is 82 credits and requires a minimum of 855 clinical hours. The minimum number of combined clinical practicum and DNP project experience hours for both BS to DNP programs is 1000 hours; many students are required to complete more than 1000 hours to demonstrate competency as required for graduation and certification. These programs can be completed in four or five years. The Nurse-Midwifery Post-Master's Certificate program is 36 credits and requires a minimum of 810 clinical hours. The plans of study for each program are outlined here:

- Nurse-Midwifery BS to DNP 4 Year Plan of Study
- Nurse-Midwifery BS to DNP 5 Year Plan of Study
- <u>Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery BS to DNP 4 Year Plan of Study</u>
- Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery BS to DNP 5 Year Plan of Study
- Nurse-Midwifery Post-Master's Certificate

#### **ACNM Core Competencies**

The nurse-midwifery curriculum is based on the American College of Nurse-Midwives (ACNM) <u>Core Competencies for Basic Midwifery Practice</u>. The Core Competences represent the essential knowledge and skills of certified nurse-midwives in the United States. They form the requisites for all midwifery education program accredited by ACME. The nurse-midwifery curriculum at Rutgers School of Nursing is regularly updated to ensure students meet these Competencies.

#### Academic Advisement

The Program Director serves as faculty advisor for Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery students and provides academic and professional guidance throughout the course of study. The Program Director assists students to identify strengths and weaknesses and establish short- and long-term academic and professional goals. To ensure students meet all program and degree requirements within the required timeframe, they must meet with the Program Director prior to course registration each semester. This process ensures students understand and meet pre- and co-requisite and degree requirements. It is the student's responsibility to register for courses based upon the agreed plan of study. Any questions regarding the course of study should be discussed with the Program Director. **Students who deviate from the Plan of Study without consulting the Program Director may jeopardize their graduation date and successful program completion**. In the case of unforeseen circumstances, plan of study modifications may be considered in collaboration with the Program Director.

### Evaluation, Grading, and Academic Progression

Grades represent student performance quality measured against faculty, program, and national standards surrounding knowledge, skill, and understanding. The program goal is for faculty to partner with students to ensure graduates are competent entry-level practitioners. Faculty and preceptors are committed to facilitating and optimizing student learning and skill acquisition.

Nurse-Midwifery and Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery courses may have weighted grading (such as minimum cumulative course examination grades) that influence the calculation of course grades and academic progression. Students should carefully review course syllabi regarding grade calculations.

Objective Structured Clinical Exams (OSCEs)

The Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/ Nurse-Midwifery programs incorporate Objective Structured Clinical Exams (OSCEs) at regular intervals throughout the program. Requirements for successful OSCE completion are outlined in course syllabi.

Nurse-Midwifery Comprehensive Examination

All Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery students are required to take and pass (with a grade of ≥79.5%) a comprehensive nurse-midwifery examination. This standardized examination covers all major topics in the Nurse-Midwifery program including health assessment, pharmacology, pathophysiology, professional issues, and primary, gynecological, antepartum, intrapartum, postpartum, and newborn care. Students who do not achieve a score of ≥79.5% on the first attempt will be required to meet with course faculty to develop a remediation plan. Students will be offered one additional opportunity to take a second (different) comprehensive examination and earn a passing score (≥79.5%). In the unfortunate circumstance that a student does not earn a passing score on the second attempt, the student will earn an "Incomplete" course grade for the final Integration Course. In collaboration with the Program Director, a student-specific remediation plan will be developed outlining the required deliverables and timeline to earn a satisfactory course grade (to be no greater than a "B"). The remediation plan will include the requirement to enroll in a 2-credit independent study course; students will be responsible for tuition costs and associated course material fees.

#### Course and Program Evaluation

Student feedback is highly valued and shapes the future of nurse-midwifery education at Rutgers School of Nursing. Ongoing course, clinical site, preceptor, and program evaluation by faculty and students is essential for program evaluation and improvement. This program integrates various evaluation tools to track student, faculty, and program success and outcomes. At the end of each semester, students are provided an opportunity to formally evaluate all courses and instructors via the Student Instructional Rating Survey (SIRS), a university-wide student survey. Preceptors and clinical sites are evaluated by faculty and students via the Exxat clinical placement and tracking system and evaluation forms. In addition, upon program completion, graduating students are asked to participate in a program Exit Assessment.

# Part 3: Learning in the Clinical Setting

Requirements for Certification and Observation

Prior to registering for the first nurse-midwifery practicum course, all students must demonstrate current certification of both (1) Neonatal Resuscitation Program (NRP) by the

American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and (2) intermediate-level fetal heart rate monitoring by the Association of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal Nurses (AWHONN). Students assume responsibility for scheduling and completing these prerequisite requirements and paying any associated fees.

Students are also required to submit attestation of either (a) prior work experience in hospital-based intrapartum care, or (b) minimum of 40 hours observation of hospital-based intrapartum care; this attestation can be a signed letter or printed email from a health care provider (i.e., CNM, CM, PA, APN, MD, DO, or RN). Students completing the observation are expected to find their own sites and are required to complete a Clinical Placement Form for this observation-only experience.

#### Clinical Clearance

Prior to starting the practicum courses, students must meet all School of Nursing <u>clinical</u> <u>clearance requirements</u>, including, but not limited to, all School of Nursing immunization and health requirements.

# Clinical Site/Preceptor Selection and Placement

With the assistance of preceptors and site coordinators, the Program Director and faculty partner with students to identify clinical sites. Clinical sites, preceptor, and placement decisions are based on several factors. Students may be asked for input regarding preferred geographic areas or additional considerations to facilitate site assignments. The goal is to provide the best match between students, preceptors, and clinical sites while ensuring students are placed with a site and preceptor that will ensure completion of course and program requirements and achievement of clinical competency. The faculty assess and give final approval of all clinical placements. To ensure students learn the specific role and scope of midwifery practice, ideally all preceptors will be midwives. If placement with a midwife is not possible, students may be matched with a qualified non-midwife provider. Preceptors who are not certified nurse-midwives or certified midwives may not exceed 50% of student's total program clinical hours.

# **Students should not contact any clinical site without approval of the Program Director.** Once the Program Director and student have agreed on a site the student must:

- 1. Contact the preceptor to formally introduce themselves and thank them for this learning opportunity.
- 2. Complete a term-specific Clinical Placement Form.
- 3. Complete any additional forms or trainings as required by the clinical site.

After all required documentation is submitted and the student has met all clinical clearance requirements, the School of Nursing Office of Clinical Compliance will generate a clinical preceptor agreement and send it to the preceptor for review and signature. Once the letter is returned, the Office of Clinical Compliance will email the student indicating that all documents have been received and the student may begin clinical hours at the site during the dates provided in the agreement. The preceptor contract articulates the last day a student may attend clinical at the site. If additional days are required, in agreement with the course faculty

and preceptor/site, a new clinical placement form reflecting the dates must be completed. Students may not attend clinical until the extended clinical contract is approved by the University.

#### Clinical Attendance and Hours

#### Creating a Clinical Schedule

After receiving final clinical clearance email notification, students must contact their primary clinical preceptor to develop a schedule for the semester. Ideally, clinical days should be evenly spaced throughout the semester, leaving a few additional days at the end of the term in case they are needed to meet required clinical hours or competency goals as outlined in the course syllabus. The clinical schedule must be shared with the practicum course faculty at the start of the semester. Any changes to the clinical schedule must be approved by the primary preceptor and communicated to the course faculty.

#### Excused and Unanticipated Absences

Students should review the <u>Classroom and Clinical Attendance Policy</u> which outlines the official recognized grounds for absences such as illness, religious holidays, and severe inclement weather. Work-related schedule conflicts, orientations, training sessions, etc. are not acceptable reasons to miss scheduled clinical and are deemed unexcused clinical absences. If a student anticipates not being able to attend clinical, they must personally notify their preceptor as soon as possible using the method of communication determined between the preceptor/site and student at the start of the semester. Students must make up any missed clinical hours. These hours should be scheduled in collaboration with the preceptor and are based on site/preceptor availability. Students who repeatedly miss scheduled clinical hours may be required to meet with the Program Director.

#### Clinical Preparedness

Punctuality is essential in the clinical environment. Students are expected to attend every session of clinical practicum and arrive 15-30 minutes prior to the start of the clinical day to adequately prepare. Students should anticipate bringing the following items with them for their first clinical day:

- Rutgers School of Nursing name badge and/or lab coat
- Clinical site identification badge
- Stethoscope
- Gestational age smartphone application or wheel
- Pocket reference book or mobile application(s)

Students are expected to share the course syllabus, overall learning needs, and clinical experience objectives with the site preceptor(s) at the start of the experience and weekly thereafter. Additionally, students should communicate specific goals for each clinical day/experience with their preceptor. Identifying and discussing ways in which the overall objectives will be met should be ongoing during the semester-long experience.

#### Clinical Evaluation

Midwifery education is competency-based. Competency is determined by faculty and preceptor evaluation of students' integration of didactic and clinical course content and ability to meet course and program objectives. The student, preceptor, and faculty participate in evaluating the student's clinical performance. Students are evaluated on an ongoing basis, with formal written evaluations at the midpoint and end of the semester. Students are responsible for facilitating mid- and end-of-semester virtual or in-person site visits with their primary preceptor and course faculty and submitting evaluation documentation on time.

Students must receive a satisfactory performance rating by the final clinical evaluation of the semester to earn a passing practicum grade. If at any point during the semester the preceptor or course faculty notes a student is not making satisfactory progress, a meeting will be scheduled to develop an individualized learning plan. Additional clinical hours or experiences may be required to ensure the student meets competency goals. The syllabus for each course provides the specific requirements for each clinical course and evaluation frequency.

#### Minimum Number of Patient Clinical Encounters

As per accreditation recommendations, Rutgers students must complete a minimum number of clinical experiences as outlined below to facilitate attaining competency in each area.

Type of Care Encounter	<b>Minimum Number of Clinical Encounters</b>
Gynecological, sexual, and reproductive health	80
Primary care	40
Antepartum care	100
Intrapartum care	60
Births	35
Postpartum care	50
Newborn care	30

# Clinical Safety

#### **OSHA** Compliance

Students are required to adhere to OSHA requirements including utilization of personal protective equipment including gloves, gown, eye protection, and mask when indicated, regardless of whether the preceptor adheres to this practice.

#### Patient Privacy

Patient privacy is governed by the US Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). Information about patients and/or their circumstances must not be shared outside the clinical context or published anywhere, including social media sites. HIPAA training and ongoing compliance is mandatory for all Rutgers Health Sciences students.

Student Clinical Practice and Advanced Midwifery Skills

The preceptor must be notified prior to any hands-on patient care. There are specific situations and skills that may require direct preceptor involvement or oversight. For example:

- Patients evaluated by students must also be evaluated by the preceptor, and the preceptor must acknowledge the patient status and approve the plan of care.
- Students are not permitted to provide healthcare orders.
- Artificial rupture of membranes or internal monitor placement must be observed by the preceptor.
- The preceptor must be present for all births. At the start of the intrapartum and
  integration semesters, students and preceptors must explicitly discuss the steps that
  would be taken should a precipitous birth occur without a preceptor present. In the
  unlikely circumstance a student attends a birth without the clinical preceptor, the
  course faculty must be notified.

The following skills are beyond the basic midwifery competences taught in this program and may not be performed by a student, even under the guidance of a preceptor:

- Ultrasound
- Vacuum extraction
- Surgical first assist (If the preceptor is the surgical first assistant, a student may scrub into a cesarean birth and observe.)
- Circumcision
- Colposcopy
- Repair of third- or fourth-degree perineal lacerations

#### Fatigue and Sleep Deprivation

Faculty and preceptors are dedicated to ensuring students have worthwhile and safe clinical experiences. Sleep deprivation can interfere with optimal learning and safe practice. Part of ensuring students are learning in a safe manner is adherence to the <a href="Midwives Position Statement">American College of Nurse-Midwives Position Statement</a>, Fatigue, Sleep Deprivation and Safety. After 16 hours of active time on-duty, midwifery students must have a period of at least 4 hours of uninterrupted rest. Students are strongly encouraged to obtain 7 hours of uninterrupted sleep on a regular basis. Students who feel tired or are sleep-deprived should sleep prior to operating a motor vehicle.

#### Clinical Errors and Adverse Clinical Outcomes

#### Student Malpractice Insurance Coverage

Students are covered by the University student malpractice insurance policy when they have a fully executed clinical preceptor agreement in place, are completing practicum at the approved clinical site with the stipulated preceptor(s) during the specified dates, and are providing professional and safe, quality care as outlined in the program and course objectives. Students may elect to privately purchase additional malpractice insurance in addition to the University policy.

#### Reporting Clinical Errors or Adverse Outcomes

A student who recognizes they have made a clinical error must report the situation to their preceptor and faculty as soon as the error was noticed so that necessary measures can be taken

to ensure subsequent patient safety. In the unfortunate event a student witnesses or experiences an adverse outcome in the clinical setting, the student must notify the clinical course faculty as soon as possible. Course faculty will help the student process the experience and refer them to additional resources as indicated. If the student is unsure if an event qualifies as an adverse outcome, the student should assume it is and notify course faculty.

### Clinical Documentation and Tracking

#### Documentation

Patient care and documentation within the healthcare record must be completed in a timely manner and prior to the preceptor and student leaving the clinical site. It is the student's responsibility to ensure the preceptor reviews and co-signs all student documentation in the official patient record. When documenting in the patient record, students must indicate the following credentials after their signature "RN, Nurse-Midwife Student." If students are not permitted to chart in the patient record, the student should complete documentation with no patient identifiers on a laptop or sheet of paper for the preceptor to review and critique.

#### Fxxat

All students enrolled in clinical programs are required to purchase Exxat, an education management platform. Students receive orientation to Exxat and its clinical placement and tracking system before the first clinical course. All patient logs and timesheets surrounding direct and indirect patient care hours, evaluations, and program-related forms are completed and stored in Exxat.

## **Experience Log and Timesheets**

As you progress through the program you are required to track your number of clinical experiences and hours at your clinical site. This is needed for professional certification eligibility and program accreditation. It also serves as a mechanism to assess the quantity of experiences generally available at each clinical site.

#### Student and Clinical Site and Preceptor Evaluations

Students are required to complete midterm and final practicum evaluations with their preceptor. Prior to asking for a preceptor's evaluation students are required to self-evaluate. Evaluations should include a discussion of students' strengths and areas in need of improvement. Additionally, at the end of each clinical placement, students are required to complete a preceptor and site evaluation form. This student feedback is confidential and essential to program development.

#### Acknowledgment of Clinical Sites and Preceptors

At the close of the semester, students should send a formal thank you note to the clinical preceptor(s) and site administrator expressing appreciation for the time and effort extended on their behalf.

# Part 3: Professional Issues

# **Professional Issues Days**

To learn about and discuss issues unique to midwifery and prepare for smooth transition to midwifery practice, student nurse-midwives must attend two regional events organized by the Northeast Midwifery Education Consortium (NEMEC) during the spring and fall semesters of the final clinical courses. These events occur on two occasions throughout the program and are outside of regularly scheduled class time. These events may take place at Rutgers or another university within the consortium or virtually. Any associated costs/fees to attend these events are the responsibility of the student.

#### Participation in Professional Activities and Organizations

Rutgers School of Nursing prepares Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery graduates to make positive contributions to the profession(s). To this end, all students are encouraged to participate in professional organizations and activities including becoming a member of the American College of Nurse-Midwives (ACNM). Attendance at national, regional, and local affiliate meetings provides insight into current professional issues and provides an opportunity to meet and network with midwives, including potential mentors and employers. Students are also encouraged to attend the ACNM Annual Meeting. ACNM offers scholarship and volunteer opportunities to students to cover the cost of attendance, travel, lodging, and meals associated with this conference. Please visit the ACNM website to learn more about the Annual Meeting and student opportunities for involvement in ACNM.

# Student Leadership Volunteer Opportunities

Students have the opportunity to gain valuable volunteer experience and represent Rutgers midwifery by serving as a liaison in one of two valuable student leadership positions:

- 1. Rutgers School of Nursing Midwifery Student-Faculty Liaison: The Rutgers Nurse-Midwifery Student-Faculty Liaison serves as a student representative within the Rutgers nurse-midwifery community and is responsible for:
  - Conveying student needs, interests, and concerns to the Program Director.
  - Coordinating student nominations for ACNM faculty and preceptor awards.
  - Facilitating and organizing a social event (one per semester) for members of the midwifery program faculty and student body.
- American College of Nurse-Midwives Student and New Midwives Committee (SANMC)
  Liaison: The ACNM SANMC Liaison serves as the point of connection between Rutgers
  students and the governing structures of ACNM and is responsible for:
  - Disseminating information from ACNM to Rutgers students.
  - Answering Rutgers student inquiries related to ACNM resources and events.
  - Informing Rutgers students about NJ Affiliate opportunities and serving as a point of contact between students and the Affiliate.
  - Collecting information on student priorities and concerns and communicating these issues to ACNM in the form of the annual Student Report.

 Onboarding the next student who will take over the ACNM SANMC liaison role to Rutgers-specific processes and resources.

# Part 4: Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery Program Faculty

While students will learn from various faculty with varied experience and expertise across non-specialty courses, the following faculty members currently teach within the Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health/Nurse-Midwifery program.



Julie Blumenfeld, DNP, CNM, FACNM (she/her)
Program Director, Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's
Health/Nurse-Midwifery
Clinical Assistant Professor

Dr. Blumenfeld is a lifelong New Jersey native who grew up in Bergen County and has practiced midwifery for over two decades in Trenton. Her clinical practice is primarily focused on serving the Spanish-speaking population in Trenton. In addition to her clinical responsibilities, Dr. Blumenfeld is dedicated to serving the community in Trenton. Since 2001, she has worked in a variety of roles in the city serving at-risk infants, children, youth, and families. Most recently, she serves as the clinical consultant to a community doula program.

Dr. Blumenfeld is a passionate advocate for creating lasting change through health policy. She is the Chair of the New Jersey Maternal Care Quality Collaborative, the state's maternal health task force, serves on the New Jersey Maternal Mortality Review Committee, and the state's Board of Medical Examiners Midwifery Liaison Committee. Additionally, she was a member of the New Jersey DMAHS/DOH Doula Stakeholder Committee. Dr. Blumenfeld is active in the American College of Nurse-Midwives and currently serves as Vice Chair of the College's State Government Affairs Committee and President of its New Jersey Affiliate. In recognition of her contributions to midwifery policy, she received the American College of Nurse-Midwives Health Policy Award in 2023. In 2023 Dr. Blumenfeld worked with the New Jersey Department of Health to develop the New Jersey Midwifery Education Project, a \$1 million dollar grant to Rutgers Nurse-Midwifery program, to grow and diversify midwifery in New Jersey.



Robyn Schafer, PhD, CNM, FACNM (she/her) Assistant Professor Dr. Schafer is a nurse-midwife, educator, and scholar who is passionate about evidence-based, person-centered care and deeply committed to preparing a diverse perinatal workforce that will provide safe, respectful, ethical, compassionate, and culturally sensitive care. In addition to teaching in the RSON nurse-midwifery program since 2019, Dr. Schafer trains obstetric residents at Rutgers Robert Wood Johnson Medical School and provides perinatal care at Rutgers Health (New Brunswick). She earned a Master of Education from Boston University, Master of Science in Nursing from Yale University, and a PhD in Nursing Science from Vanderbilt University. She also holds advanced certification as a Certified Nurse Educator and Internationally Board-Certified Lactation Consultant and is a Fellow of the American College of Nurse-Midwives. Dr. Schafer actively contributes to multiple interprofessional research collaborations that focus on clinical decision-making including risk perception, informed choice, and evidence-based practice in perinatal and reproductive health. Her scholarship includes multiple peer-reviewed articles, national and international presentations, and textbook chapters including Varney's Midwifery and Lewis' Medical-Surgical Nursing. She lives in northern New Jersey with her husband and children, the oldest of which will be starting Rutgers undergraduate program in the fall.



Donna Mangione, MSN, CNM (she/her) Assistant Professor

Ms. Donna Mangione, a long-time resident of New Jersey, is an assistant professor at Rutgers School of Nursing and practicing nurse-midwife. She became interested in nurse-midwifery in 1975 when she was a biology major at the University of Notre Dame and had the privilege of attending a birth with a newly certified "pioneer" nurse-midwife. She graduated from Cornell University-NY Hospital School of Nursing in 1979 and earned a Master of Science in Nursing from the University of Pennsylvania in 1984.

In 1985, Ms. Mangione began working and teaching at the University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey (UMDNJ) School of Health Professions Nurse-Midwifery Education program as a new midwife, under direction and guidance of four historic midwives: Theresa Marsico, Dr. Elaine Diegmann, Betty Hosford, and Mary Shean. She participated in full scope midwifery practice under the Federal Maternal Infant Care Project, caring primarily for adolescents. She provided care to patients and taught and supervised nurse-midwifery students at University Hospital and Ad House, a unique care model for adolescents in the heart of Newark. Ms. Mangione also worked at a private practice in New Jersey and Pennsylvania during these years and had the privilege of practicing and teaching at three other hospitals in the Newark area.

Ms. Mangione was instrumental in adapting Rutgers Nurse-Midwifery program throughout its evolution including its move to the School of Nursing and its transition from UMDNJ to Rutgers University. She has been instrumental in obtaining clinical sites for students and continues to enjoy conducting site visits on location. Ms. Mangione a has taught and precepted in the ABSN program in Newark and Stratford and taught in the Advanced Degree program. She holds hospital privileges at Robert Wood Johnson Barnabas Health, Newark Beth Israel Medical Center, where she has worked and precepted midwifery students since 2000. Additionally, Ms. Mangione is active in Moms Demand Action and FACE NJ.



Irina Benenson, DNP, APN, FNP-C (she/her) Associate Professor

Dr. Irina Benenson serves as an associate professor in the Division of Advanced Nursing Practice, Rutgers University School of Nursing. She teaches clinical courses in the BS to DNP program and the Nurse-Midwifery and Dual Women's Health Nurse-Midwifery programs that includes advanced pathophysiology and primary care. A nationally certified family nurse practitioner, Dr. Benenson has worked for many years providing direct care for patients in inpatient and outpatient care settings. She maintains her clinical practice as a primary care nurse practitioner at the New Jersey Family Practice Center affiliated with New Jersey Medical School, where she precept nurse practitioner students from a variety of programs.

Dr. Benenson's scholarship focuses on improving healthcare outcomes of individuals with chronic medical conditions, especially hypertension. She is a leading author of more than 20 manuscripts and abstracts. She has presented at numerous international, national, and regional conferences. Her scholarly efforts have received international recognition and her research has been cited in several news outlets and more than thirty professional journals across the globe. Dr. Benenson is a recipient of 2018 New Jersey Health Foundation Excellence in Teaching Award and 2022 Outstanding Preceptor Award from the American College of Nurse-Midwives. Acknowledging her leadership to improve hypertension care, Dr. Benenson was elected as a New Jersey chapter leader for the *Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association*.



Jennifer Short, DNP, CNM (she/her) Per-Diem Faculty Dr. Jennifer Short, a North Carolina native who has called New Jersey home since 2003, is a certified nurse-midwife practicing in a large collaborative group and attending births at a community hospital in Central New Jersey. Dr. Short started her career in women's healthcare in Trenton as a labor nurse. During that time, she also trained as a doula and received her lactation counselor certification. Following her passion, she continued her education and training to become a CNM. Dr. Short's midwifery career began at a large academic hospital where she worked in the clinic and the hospital, caring for patients, and facilitating training and supervision of OB/GYN residents. In 2017, Jennifer joined her current practice in Mercer County to provide full-scope midwifery care in her community. Wanting to further her practice, she continued her education and earned her Doctorate in Nursing Practice, with a special focus on the safe reduction of cesarean sections. She also advanced to the Director of Midwifery in her practice. Her passions include physiologic birth, supporting the LGBTQI community, working with teenagers/first gynecological exams, and trauma-informed pelvic care.

Dr. Short joined the Rutgers Nurse-Midwifery program as per-diem faculty in 2022. In addition to her teaching responsibilities, she is also working with the New Jersey Midwifery Education Project to establish a state-of-the-art Midwifery Simulation Lab and to create meaningful oncampus clinical experiences for nurse-midwifery students at Rutgers School of Nursing.



Trisha Sheridan, DNP, WHNP-BC, SANE-A, SANE-P (she/her) Per-Diem Faculty

Trisha Sheridan is an Associate Professor, clinical track, and Specialty Coordinator of the Women's Nurse Practitioner program at Emory University. She is board certified as a Women's Health Nurse Practitioner and as a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner for Adults, Adolescents and Pediatrics through the International Association of Forensic Nurses (IAFN). Dr. Sheridan completed her DNP in nursing in 2015 at the University of Texas Health Science Center-Houston. Her research looked at the role of education and protocol implementation for HIV post exposure prophylaxis for adult survivors of sexual assault. Dr. Sheridan obtained her BSN in nursing and her master's degree in nursing as a women's health nurse practitioner from Columbia University. She is a nationally known speaker with numerous presentations on Elder Abuse, Human Trafficking, and Forensic Nursing, and serves as a Director at Large on the Board of Directors for the IAFN, an international organization committed to providing leadership in forensic nursing practice by developing, promoting, and disseminating information internationally about forensic nursing science. Her clinical practice began as an emergency technician during her service in the Air Force. She currently practices both as a WHNP and as a Forensic Nurse.

Dr. Sheridan joined Rutgers University as per-diem faculty in 2021. She currently teaches Women's Health and Nurse-Midwifery students enrolled in the Mental Health, Intimate Partner Violence & Addictive Behaviors in Women course.